FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/30/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/29/2024 2:40 PM

102764-8

No. 851209

WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POWERCOM, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellant,

v.

PORT OF SEATTLE; CLARK CONSTRUCTION GROUP, LLC; TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA; FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT COMPANY OF MARYLAND; FEDERAL INSURANCE COMPANY; ZURICH AMERICAN INS. CO.(Bond Nos. 106308203/82298673/09190971) and (Bond Nos. 106356881/82298695/09207256); VALLEY ELECTRIC CO. OF MT. VERNON, INC; ARGONAUT INSURANCE COMPANY, (Bond No. SUR0043723-00),

Respondents.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner PowerCom, Inc. ("PowerCom") asks this Court to accept review of the Washington Court of Appeals' published decision filed on January 8, 2024 ("Decision"). The Decision affirmed the trial court's stay of PowerCom's Little Miller Act statutory bond claims under RCW 39.08.030 against Respondents Clark Construction Group, LLC ("Clark") and its Sureties ("Clark Sureties"), and Valley Electric Co. of Mt. Vernon, Inc.'s ("Valley") and its Surety ("Valley's Surety"), pending a final resolution of Clark's separate lawsuit against the Port.

The Decision operates as an invalid waiver of PowerCom's rights under Washington's Little Miller Act. Not only does the disputes clause affect the timing of PowerCom's Little Miller Act claims, but the "final and binding" language may result in PowerCom losing its ability to return to court to enforce its statutory bond rights under Washington's Little Miller Act. The dispute clause operates as an implied waiver of PowerCom's rights under the Little Miller Act and is therefore unenforceable.

If the Court of Appeals' decision is not overturned, every contractor and material supplier in the State of Washington could lose its ability to pursue its statutory bond rights under Washington's Little Miller Act.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals published decision for which review is sought is *PowerCom*, *Inc.* v. *Valley Electric Co. of Mt. Vernon, Inc.*, et al, 2024 Wash. App. LEXIS 18, filed on January 8, 2024. A copy of the Decision is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Like the Federal Miller Act, Washington's "Little Miller Act" (Chapters 18.27, 39.08, and 60.28 RCW) requires contractors to obtain payment bonds from a surety company on public works projects for the protection of laborers and materialmen because mechanics' liens are unavailable on such projects. The purpose of Washington's Little Miller Act is to provide security for those who furnish labor and material in the performance of public works projects and to protect a subcontractors' right to prompt and proper

payment. Washington's Little Miller Act provides subcontractors a right of action in their own name in the state courts against the contractor's payment bond surety. Under RCW 39.08.030(1)(a), a sub-Subcontractor like PowerCom may seek payment directly from the payment bond surety if the general contractor or the Subcontractor fails to timely pay.

The Court of Appeals, in a published decision, affirmed the trial court's stay of PowerCom's Little Miller Act statutory bond claims against Clark's Sureties and Valley Electric's Surety on its pass-through claim pending a final resolution of Clark's lawsuit against the Port. The Court of Appeals found that the disputes clause in the subcontract which conditions payment on (1) resolution of the global dispute process between Clark and the Port (pay-when-paid) and (2) the amount of payment Clark receives from the Port and Valley receives from Clark (pay-if-paid), is a waiver of PowerCom's statutory right to sue under Washington's Little Miller Act. The Court of Appeal's decision affirming the stay of PowerCom's pass-through claim in favor of the Clark/Port

proceedings will likely result in PowerCom losing its ability to return to court to enforce its statutory bond rights under Washington's Little Miller Act.

In numerous cases, the federal courts have refused to enforce dispute resolution clauses identical to this one that provide an administrative or court determination of the subcontractor statutory bond rights under the Miller Act in the absence of the subcontractor, requires suspension of the Subcontractor's statutory bond action until a final determination of any dispute resolution procedure between the contractor and the government, and requires the subcontractor to be bound by the decisions, findings, which determinations, awards relevant the or are subcontractor's claim. The Federal courts have treated dispute clauses that affect the timing of recovery and entitlement to recovery the same way --- as an implied waiver of the subcontractor's rights under the Miller Act and therefore unenforceable. The Court of Appeals disregarded all of these cases in a published decision. Because the disputes clause affects both the timing of recovery and PowerCom's right of recovery, the stay provision goes against the plain text of Washington's Little Miller Act and operates as an implied waiver of PowerCom's statutory bond rights and is unenforceable.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Facts

PowerCom is a sub-subcontractor of Valley on this large public works project for the Port of Seattle called the SeaTac International Arrivals Facility South Satellite Corridor Refurbishment Project ("Project"). The Port of Seattle contracted with Clark Construction Group, LLC ("Clark") as its prime contractor and design-builder on the Project. (CP at 544-545; 701, Clark subcontracted with Valley for the design, ¶¶ 4, 5). construction, and completion of all Special Systems, including all Division 27 - Communications, on the Project. (CP at 629-636). Valley entered into a sub-Subcontract with PowerCom for the Special Systems portion of the Project. (CP at 638-650).

As required under Washington's Little Miller Act (RCW

39.08 et seq.), Clark's Sureties, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Federal Insurance Company, Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland, and Zurich American Insurance Company ("Clark's Sureties") provided payment bonds for the Project, with Clark as the Principal. (CP at 12, ¶ 48). Valley's Surety, Argonaut Insurance Company ("Valley Surety"), also provided a payment bond for the Project, with Valley as the Principal. (CP at 12, ¶49). As required under RCW 39.08.030, PowerCom provided its Notice of Claim against Clark's payment bonds and Valley's payment bond on November 3, 2021, and Amended Notices of Claim on December 1, 2021, February 23, 2022, and April 22, 2022. (CP at 24-25; 83-84; 124-125; 168-169).

On July 5, 2022, PowerCom filed a lawsuit against the Port of Seattle, Clark and Clark's Sureties, and Valley and Valley's Surety for foreclosure of its statutory payment bond claims under Washington's Little Miller Act, RCW 39.08 et seq., and for breach of contract, violation of Washington's Prompt Pay Act, quantum

meruit/unjust enrichment, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (CP at 739-966). PowerCom's Amended Complaint asserts no less than \$2,643,330.11 for unpaid payment applications and for extra work, including its COVID-19 and Delay claim. (CP at 1-22). PowerCom's has not been paid for any of this work for over two years. (CP at 672-678). Clark's Sureties denied PowerCom's claim under their payment bonds. (CP at 975, ¶¶ 81, 82). Valley's Surety also denied PowerCom's claim under its payment bond. (CP at 984, ¶ 4.12).

On August 28, 2020, Clark submitted a Request for Change Order – Impacts Due to COVID-19 to the Port of Seattle in the amount of \$30,351,416.00, which included Valley's Rev. 5 to its COVID-19 Claim dated August 5, 2020 in the amount of \$4,523,803.00. (CP 427-437).

On September 24, 2021, the Port issued its Serial Letter SL0409 to Clark denying Clark's entire Request for Change Order on several bases, including its failure to follow the claim notice procedures in the Main Contract. (CP at 446-455). PowerCom

was never advised of the Port's denial of Clark's Consolidated COVID-19 claim. (CP at 675, ¶7).

On October 20, 2021, PowerCom submitted its Final COVID-19 and IAF Delay Claim to Valley which totaled \$1,306,250.00. (CP at 457-502). That same date, October 20, 2021, Valley submitted a "FULLY DOCUMENTED CLAIM" to Clark for the impacts from COVID-19 in the amount of \$13,949,876.00. (CP at 504-537).

On May 25, 2022, through a public records request to the Port, PowerCom learned for the first time that on October 21, 2020, Clark had submitted a Consolidated Claim for cost and schedule impacts relating to multiple claims to the Port of Seattle. (CP at 539-573; 504-537; 674, ¶6). However, Clark's Consolidated Claim to the Port, which included Valley's COVID-19 Fully Documented Claim dated October 20, 2021, contains numerous handwritten deductions in red to PowerCom's October 20, 2021 COVID-19 and Delay Claim, which total over \$600,000.00 (CP at 504-537; 672-678, ¶6).

On December 16, 2022, Clark filed a lawsuit against the Port for breach of contract in King County Superior Court. (CP at 700-703). On January 13, 2023, the Port filed its Answer to Clark's Complaint and asserted counterclaims which total over \$99 million dollars. (CP at 705-735). The Port's Answer alleges that Clark's Consolidated COVID-19 claim is barred due to Clark's failure to comply with the notice and claim procedures in the Design-Build Contract. (CP at 711, Affirmative Defenses 4 and 5).

B. The Main Contract and Subcontract Dispute Resolution Clauses

The Port's Design Build Contract with Clark contains a Dispute Resolution Process at Article G-09.02(f) that requires the parties to meet and confer to try to resolve the claim (Level I), and if a mutually acceptable resolution has not been achieved, the Design-Builder (Clark) *may* initiate the Level 2 Process. (CP at 622-623). If the claim is not resolved in the Level II process, the matter *shall* be referred to a Dispute Solution Board (DRB) as set forth in G-09-03. (CP at 623, G-09.02(F)(3)). Under G-

09.02(F)(4), if the Claim is not resolved following conclusion of the DRB process, the Design-Builder may bring no claim against the Port in litigation unless the claim is first subject to mediation. (CP at 623). Neither the Port of Seattle nor Clark followed these Claim Resolution procedures. Clark's Claims were never referred to a Dispute Resolution Board and Clark and the Port never mediated Clark's Claim. (CP at 702, ¶18; 710, ¶23; 711, ¶6).

PowerCom's sub-Subcontract with Valley states at Paragraph 2:

Subcontractor agrees as follows:

2. To be bound by all laws, governmental regulations, and orders and all terms and conditions of the Main Contract, to the extent of the work herein subcontracted, which provisions are hereby incorporated by reference, and all of the terms and conditions of this Subcontract, including paragraph A thru W of Subcontract General Conditions Incurred herewith.

(CP at 637-649, \P 2).

The sub-Subcontract General Conditions at Paragraph (a) state in pertinent part:

(a) Obligations and Responsibilities

It is agreed that Subcontractor will assume toward Contractor [Valley] all obligations and responsibilities which Contractor [Valley] has assumed toward Owner under the Main Contract to the extent of the work herein subcontracted, and Subcontractor shall be entitled to all privileges and protections granted Contractor [Valley] by Owner under the Main Contract. In case of conflict between the terms of this Subcontract and the Main Contract, this Subcontract shall control... A copy of the Main Contract will be made available upon request.

(CP at 641). The sub-Subcontract General Conditions contain a dispute resolution clause at (t)(1) similar to the disputes clauses that numerous Federal Courts have found unenforceable with respect to actions under the Miller Act. General Conditions Section (t)(1) states in pertinent part:

(1) Pass-through Claims:

In the event of any dispute or claim between contractor and Owner which directly or indirect involves the work performed or to be performed by Subcontractor, or in the event of any dispute or claim between Contractor and Subcontractor caused by or arising out of conduct for which Owner may be responsible, Subcontractor agrees to be bound to Contractor and Contractor agrees to be bound to Subcontractor to the same extent that Contactor is bound to Owner by the terms of the Main Contract and by any and all procedures and resulting decisions, findings, determinations, or awards made

thereunder by the person so authorized in the Main Contract, or by an administrative agency, board, court of competent jurisdiction or arbitration.

Subcontractor agrees to be bound by the procedure and final determination as specified in the Main Contract and agrees that it will not take, or will suspend, any other action or actions with respect to any such claims and will pursue no independent litigation with respect thereto, pending final determination of any dispute resolution procedure between Owner and Contractor. It is expressly understood and agreed that, as to any and all claims asserted by Subcontractor in connection with this project arising from the actions or fault of Owner, Contractor shall not be liable to Subcontractor for any greater amount than Owner is liable to Contractor, less any markups or costs incurred by Contractor.

(CP at 646, emphasis added).

C. PowerCom's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration of All Claims Against All Parties

On January 24, 2023, PowerCom filed a motion to stay and to compel arbitration of all claims against all parties. (CP at 309-678). In addition to PowerCom's "non-pass-through" claims, PowerCom argued that its pass-through COVID-19 claim should be arbitrated with its non-pass-through claims because the Port has denied all of Clark's claims, both Clark and Valley failed to present PowerCom's COVID-19 claim to the Port in good faith,

and that the Dispute Resolution Process violates PowerCom's statutory bond rights under RCW 39.08 and is unenforceable. (CP 309-326; CP 682-694).

Valley did not file a response to PowerCom's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration. Clark and its Sureties agreed to a stay and to arbitrate PowerCom's "non-pass-through claims," but argued that PowerCom's COVID-19 claim should be treated differently, because Clark is already pursuing its own claim for additional costs arising out of COVID-19 in its lawsuit against the Port, which claim includes PowerCom's COVID-19 and Delay claim, and that it should not have to defend against PowerCom's COVID-19 and Delay claim while at the same time adjudicating its own COVID-19 claim in a different venue, which could lead to inconsistent ruling and judicial inefficiency. (CP at 989-993).

Contrary to the Court of Appeals Decision, Clark and its Sureties did *not* argue in the trial court in either their response to the motion or at oral argument that PowerCom waived its right to recover under Washington's Little Miller Act pending resolution

of Clark's lawsuit against the Port. (CP at 989-993; RP 12:13-16:4). Clark argued for the first time on appeal that:

Here, the Sub-subcontract's incorporation of the Main Contract's dispute process is express, and satisfies any plausible standard for intentionally waiving a Little Miller Act claim. PowerCom's Sub-subcontract states that PowerCom "agrees to be bound by the procedure and final determination as specified in the Main Contract." The contract specifies that PowerCom will be bound by the "decisions, findings, determinations, or awards made [under the Main Contract],"...The contract provides that PowerCom cannot recover more from Valley than the Port ultimately pays."

(See Appendix B, Page 26).

Clark did not make this argument below, and the Court of Appeals erred in not granting PowerCom's motion to strike Clark's new waiver arguments raised for the first time on appeal, and should have declined to consider it. (See Appendix C, Pages, 2-3).

PowerCom argued that whether and to what extent Clark recovers any money from the Port on its COVID-19 claim is irrelevant because PowerCom has a statutory right under Washington's Little Miller Act to pursue its claims against Clark's

Sureties and Valley's Surety in this lawsuit, and requiring a stay of PowerCom's pass-through claim until final resolution of Clark's lawsuit against the Port constitutes an implied waiver of PowerCom's statutory rights under Washington's Little Miller Act. (CP at 682-694).

On March 17, 2023, the trial court entered an Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part PowerCom's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration of all Claims Against All Parties. (CP at 736-738). The trial court granted PowerCom's motion to stay and compel arbitration of its non-pass-through claims. Id. However, the trial court stayed PowerCom's statutory bond claims against Clark's Sureties and Valley's Surety pending a final resolution of Clark's lawsuit against the Port. (CP 736-738).

The Court of Appeals affirmed ruling that PowerCom has waived its right to sue on its Little Miller Act claim citing *United States ex rel. Trans Coastal Roofing Co. v. David Boland, Inc.* and *United States v. Daniel, Urbahn, Seelye and Fuller*, 357 F. Supp. 853, 861, (N.D. III. 1973).

The Court of Appeals ignored the numerous Federal cases that have distinguished both *Bollard* and *Daniel* because the disputes clauses in both of those cases **did not** provide that the decision in the owner/contractor remedial proceedings would be final and binding on the subcontractor's claim. PowerCom's sub-Subcontract does contain the final and binding language, indicating that staying the litigation in favor of the Clark/Port lawsuit will result in PowerCom losing its ability to return to court to enforce its rights under Washington's Little Miller Act, and operates as an implied waiver of PowerCom's Little Miller Act rights and is therefore unenforceable.

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court's Review is Justified Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

PowerCom seeks discretionary review in this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves an issue of substantial public interest and will have sweeping implications on the rights of every contractor and supplier in Washington State under Washington's Little Miller Act right, RCW 39.08. This case

presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals' decision, while affecting parties to this proceeding, also will affect the statutory rights of every single contractor and material supplier under Washington's Little Miller Act, RCW 39.08. As a result of the Court of Appeals' published decision, a Washington surety and its principal can now avoid liability and prevent a subcontractor from exercising its Little Miller Act statutory bond rights in the absence of a clear and explicit waiver of those rights, and can severely limit or even prevent a subcontractor's recovery against a payment bond surety under RCW 39.08.030.

This Court's review is appropriate in this case where an incorrect holding will have sweeping implications on the rights of every single contractor and material supplier under Washington's Little Miller Act, RCW 39.08.

B. The Court of Appeals Erred in Affirming the Stay of PowerCom's Little Miller Act Claims

Like the Federal Miller Act, Washington's "Little Miller Act" (Chapters 18.27, 39.08 and 60.28 RCW) requires contractors

to obtain payment bonds on public works projects for the protection of laborers and materialmen because mechanics' liens are unavailable on such projects. *3A Industries, Inc. v. Turner Constr. Co.*, 71 Wn. App. 407, 411, 869 P.2d 65 (1993). The bond required by the Little Miller Act and the possibility of a suit on it often provides the subcontractor's only insurance against financial disaster due to a prime contractor's nonpayment or default. Upon nonpayment or default by the prime contractor, materialmen and laborers may sue on the payment bond in Washington state court under RCW 39.08.030(1)(a).

Under both the federal Miller Act and Washington's "Little Miller Act," if the subcontract terms affect the timing of recovery and the right of recovery under the Miller Act, enforcement of such terms preclude Miller Act liability and contradicts the express terms of the Miller Act. *Fanderlik-Locke*, 285 F.2d at 942. Accordingly, "the courts do not favor finding that a subcontractor has contractually abandoned his rights under the Miller act." *H.W. Caldwell & Sons, Inc. v. United States for Use & Benefit of John*

H. Moon & Songs, Inc., 407 F.2d 21, 23 (5th Cir. 1969).

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