FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/28/2024 1:29 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102764-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 85120-9-I WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

POWERCOM, INC., a Washington corporation, Appellant,

v.

PORT OF SEATTLE; CLARK CONSTRUCTION GROUP, LLC; TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA; FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT COMPANY OF MARYLAND; FEDERAL INSURANCE COMPANY; ZURICH AMERICAN INS. CO. (Bond Nos. 106308203/82298673/09190971 and Bond Nos. 106356881/82298695/09207256); VALLEY ELECTRIC CO. OF MT. VERNON, INC.; ARGONAUT INSURANCE COMPANY;

Respondents.

RESPONDENT CLARK CONSTRUCTION GROUP, LLC'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

B. Proceedings Below

1. On October 19, 2022, PowerCom filed the operative complaint against Valley, Clark, the Port, and the sureties that Valley and Clark engaged to provide payment bonds for the Project. CP 1. PowerCom's claims arise from a smattering of disputes that occurred during the Project. *See, e.g.*, CP 6-8. Clark—like each of the defendants—denies all of PowerCom's claims.

The only claim at issue in this appeal is PowerCom's Little Miller Act claim. PowerCom seeks to recoup costs and expenses that it alleges it incurred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. PowerCom asserts that COVID-19 protocols implemented on the Project "caused inefficiencies for PowerCom and its crews for a period of over a year and a half," including by shutting down the work site, requiring social distancing, creating temperature

check-in stations, and eliminating tool sharing. CP 9-10.

PowerCom concedes that it submitted this claim to Valley as a pass-through claim against the Port for resolution under the Main Contract. Pet. 8. PowerCom further concedes that Valley submitted the claim (along with its own COVID-19 claim) to Clark; and that Clark submitted those claims (along with Clark's own COVID-19 claim) to the Port for resolution. CP 10-11. The Port has so far denied these claims, but litigation of these claims remains ongoing. Clark strongly disagrees with the Port's position, and is working to bring all the COVID-19 claims to a favorable resolution.

2. On January 18, 2023, PowerCom moved to compel arbitration of its claims, and to stay its claims in the trial court. CP 312-13. Clark voluntarily agreed, solely for efficiency, to arbitrate PowerCom's non-pass-through claims. CP 990. The Port declined to arbitrate any claims. PowerCom's petition does not present any issues for review related to the disposition of its arbitration motion.

In response to PowerCom's motion, Clark asked the trial court to stay PowerCom's pass-through claim. CP 990-91. Clark pointed to the provision in PowerCom's agreement binding it to the Main Contract's dispute resolution process and requiring it not to pursue independent litigation pending the completion of that process. RP 13-14. That process remained (and remains) ongoing: as contemplated by the Main Contract, Clark has filed a lawsuit against the Port asserting its own claims and subcontractors' pass-through claims. CP 990; see Clark Constr. Grp. v. Port of Seattle, King County Cause No. 22-2-20747-7 SEA. Clark's, Valley's, and PowerCom's COVID-19 claims were and are being actively adjudicated in that lawsuit, and the results would bind PowerCom and resolve the pass-through claim it is asserting in this case. CP 990-91; see also CP 646.

Clark thus argued that in accordance with the parties' contracts, and in the interests of judicial economy, PowerCom's pass-through claim in this case should be stayed pending the resolution of that claim between Clark and the Port. CP 991; RP

7-8, 20 (PowerCom acknowledging at argument that Clark had requested a stay of PowerCom's pass-through claim).¹

- 3. On March 17, 2023, the trial court granted PowerCom's motion in part, denied it in part, and stayed the pass-through claim. CP 736-38. As relevant here, the trial court granted Clark's request for a stay of the pass-through claim "pending resolution of Clark's lawsuit against Port of Seattle ..., which such lawsuit includes Plaintiff's pass-through COVID-19 claim." CP 737.
- 4. On March 20, 2023, PowerCom appealed. As relevant here, PowerCom argued that the trial court stay violated its rights under the Little Miller Act to bring an independent claim against

¹ PowerCom asserts that Clark failed to argue in the trial court that PowerCom's contract waived its right to bring a Little Miller Act claim. Pet. 13-14. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this waiver argument. *PowerCom*, 540 P.3d at 1184 n.6. Clark clearly raised the issue. RP 13-15. Indeed, before the trial court *PowerCom's own lawyer* described "Clark's argument" as being "that Powercom's statutory Little Miller Act claim can be waived." RP 20. PowerCom's counsel went on to refer to Little Miller Act "waive[r]" four more times. RP 20-21.

Valley and Clark's sureties. PowerCom, 540 P.3d at 1184.

Clark argued "that PowerCom contractually waived by 'clear and explicit language' its right to recover under the Little Miller Act pending resolution of Clark's lawsuit against the Port." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals "agree[d] with Clark." *Id.* The court noted the trial court's "inherent power to stay its proceedings where the interest of justice so requires," a decision reviewed for "abuse of discretion." *Id.* (citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals then observed that while the Little Miller Act provides subcontractors a cause of action against a prime contractor's surety, "[a] subcontractor may waive its right to sue under the Little Miller Act." *Id.* (citations omitted). Waivers "must be manifest by the plain language of the contract." *Id.* at 1185 (quoting *3A Indus. v. Turner Constr. Co.*, 71 Wn. App. 407, 413, 869 P.2d 65 (1993)) (cleaned up).

Applying this uncontroversial principle, the court pointed to the "plain language" of PowerCom's contract, which says:

PowerCom agrees that it will not take, or will suspend, any other action or actions with respect to [pass-through] claims and will pursue no independent litigation with respect thereto, pending final determination of any dispute resolution procedure between the Port and Clark.

Id. (cleaned up). The Court of Appeals held that this "unambiguous language clearly" and "explicitly manifests PowerCom's agreement to relinquish the right to resolve pass-through claims in the first instance to Clark and to pursue no independent litigation until that process is complete." Id. The court therefore concluded that the "trial court did not abuse its discretion by staying PowerCom's pass-through COVID-19 related claim." Id. at 1186.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

PowerCom does not identify any grounds warranting review under RAP 13.4(b). As set forth below, Division One's decision correctly applied settled law to an unambiguous contract. The outcome is consistent with how courts have treated similar cases across the nation. The Court of Appeals' proper

interpretation of the contract does not create any issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Correct

The Court of Appeals correctly held that PowerCom's contract waives the right to bring a Little Miller Act claim pending a final determination of the dispute resolution process between Clark and the Port. *PowerCom*, 540 P.3d at 1184-86. As a result of that holding, the court correctly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in staying PowerCom's pass-through claim. Contrary to PowerCom's repeated assertion, none of its caselaw is inconsistent with the Court of Appeals' decision.

1. Washington's Little Miller Act, and similar statutes throughout the nation, provide subcontractors on government projects a right of action against the prime contractor's surety bond in the event the subcontractors are not timely paid. RCW 39.08.030; *see PowerCom*, 540 P.3d at 1184.

But the right to file a Little Miller Act suit can be waived, including when a subcontractor agrees to be bound by a prime contract's dispute resolution process. A "stricter standard for incorporation" of the prime contract's dispute process applies. Wash. State Major League Baseball Stad. Pub. Fac. Dist. v. Huber, Hunt & Nichols-Kiewit Constr. Co., 176 Wn.2d 502, 526, 296 P.3d 821 (2013). Merely referencing the prime contract's "general conditions" in the subcontract, without specifically referencing the dispute process, does not suffice. Fanderlik-Locke Co. v. United States, 285 F.2d 939, 943 (10th Cir. 1960). But as this Court has explained, "courts have found incorporation of disputes clauses in the prime contract ... where there is 'a provision in the [subcontract] making the 'disputes' clause expressly applicable." Wash. State Major League Baseball Stad., 176 Wn.2d at 526 (citation omitted).

PowerCom's contract meets and exceeds the standard for waiving the right to bring a Little Miller Act suit. The Subsubcontract not only—at length—sets forth PowerCom's

agreement to be bound by the Main Contract dispute process and "by any and all ... resulting decisions" of that process. CP 646. It also expressly states that PowerCom agrees "that it will not take, or will suspend, any other action or actions with respect to any [pass-through] claims and will pursue no independent litigation with respect thereto" while the Main Contract dispute process is ongoing. CP 646 (emphasis added).

Indeed, as the Court of Appeals observed, other courts have held similar language justifies a stay of Miller Act remedies. *PowerCom*, 540 P.3d at 1185-86. In *United States v. David Boland, Inc.*, for example, a federal district court held that language requiring the subcontractor to "first pursue and fully exhaust" contractual dispute resolution "before commencing *any other action*" "clearly encompasses" Miller Act claims. 922 F. Supp. 597, 598 (S.D. Fla. 1996) (emphasis added), *aff'd sub nom. Trans Coastal Roofing v. Boland*, 226 F.3d 646 (11th Cir. 2000) (Table); *see also United States v. Daniel, Urbahn, Seelye & Fuller*, 357 F. Supp. 853, 861 (N.D. Ill. 1973) (finding waiver

because "the disputes clause is explicitly set out in the subcontract itself" rather than incorporated by general reference); *United States v. Dick/Morganti*, No. C 07-02564, 2007 WL 3231717, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 30, 2007) (finding waiver because of language requiring subcontractor "to stay *any action* ... until the dispute resolution and appeals process ... is exhausted" (emphasis added)).

2. PowerCom concedes that its Little Miller Act rights can be waived by "a clear and explicit waiver." Pet. 17. And PowerCom does not dispute that its Little Miller Act claim is "independent litigation" of pass-through claims that its contract bars it from bringing. Indeed, PowerCom does not address, anywhere in its argument, the key contractual language on which the Court of Appeals relied.

PowerCom instead points to a handful of cases that, it claims, stand for the proposition that the language in its contract is not sufficiently clear to justify a stay. PowerCom claims that these cases involved "identical" or "nearly identical" contracts.

Pet. 4, 22, 26. That is not so, and none of these cases—all of which PowerCom cited before the Court of Appeals—undermines the Court of Appeals' decision.

First, PowerCom points to Fanderlik-Locke. But in that case, the subcontract merely contained a reference to binding the subcontractor to the "general conditions" of the prime contract. 285 F.2d at 943. PowerCom's contract, in contrast, contains paragraphs of text carefully incorporating the Main Contract dispute process, binding PowerCom to follow it, making its determinations conclusive on PowerCom, and barring PowerCom from pursuing "independent litigation." This case is nothing like Fanderlik-Locke, as the Court of Appeals in this case pointed out. PowerCom, 540 P.3d at 1185.

Second, PowerCom cites United States v. Weststar Engineering, Inc., 290 F.3d 1199 (9th Cir. 2002). But in that case, the relevant contract merely stated that the subcontractor would be paid "when and if" the prime contractor was paid by the government. Id. at 1202. The contract did not incorporate a

separate dispute resolution process, nor did it expressly bind one party not to pursue independent litigation.

Third, PowerCom cites United States ex rel. Tusco, Inc. v. Clark Construction Group, LLC, 235 F. Supp. 3d 745 (D. Md. 2016). But in that case, the defendants did not argue that the subcontract waived any of the subcontractor's Miller Act rights. Id. at 760 n.20. And at any rate, the contract did not include language barring independent litigation of pass-through claims. Compare id. at 749 (block quote), with CP 646.

Fourth, PowerCom cites Pinnacle Crushing & Construction LLC v. Hartford Fire Insurance Co., Case No. C17-1908, 2018 WL 1907569 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 23, 2018). That case involved two subcontracts. The first did not include any language waiving a right to independent litigation, and so is not on point. Id. at *4 (block quoting the "Cherokee-SCI Subcontract"). The second did include such language, but the court's reasoning supports Clark. The court concluded that the contract was sufficiently "explicit[]." Id. at *5. The court held,

however, that the contract was unenforceable for the entirely unrelated reason that under the *federal* Miller Act, "a subcontractor can waive its Miller Act rights only after furnishing labor or material used in performing the contract." *Id.* (citing 40 U.S.C. § 3133(c)). Washington's Little Miller Act contains no such requirement. Compare 40 U.S.C. § 3133(c), *with* RCW ch. 39.08. *Pinnacle* thus supports the conclusion that the subcontract in this case is sufficiently clear to effectuate a waiver under *Washington's* Little Miller Act.

Finally, PowerCom points to Apple Valley Communications, Inc. v. Budget Electrical Contractors, Inc., Case No. EDCV 19-1643, 2020 WL 8385651 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 8, 2020). That case is similar to Pinnacle. One contract contained no reference at all to the prime contractor's dispute resolution process. Id. at *8. And the other contained a clear and explicit Miller Act waiver, but was executed "before furnishing labor and material" and so was unenforceable on grounds relevant only to the federal Miller Act. Id.

The Court of Appeals' decision applied settled law to a clear contract. It considered and rejected the precedent PowerCom offers this Court. The decision below is correct; there is no reason for this Court to grant review.

B. This Case Does Not Merit Review for Any Other Reason

PowerCom seeks discretionary review solely under RAP 13.4(b)(4). But this case does not present "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." PowerCom provides no reason to think this case will have any widespread unexpected effect. And review at this stage of the case is premature.

First, PowerCom provides no support for its assertion that the Court of Appeals' decision "will have sweeping implications on the rights of every single contractor and material supplier under Washington's Little Miller Act." See Pet. 17.

PowerCom's contract expressly binds it to the Main Contract's dispute process for pass-through claims, and bars it

from pursuing "independent litigation" of those claims while that process is ongoing. CP 646. Contractors subject to similar provisions will not be surprised by the result in this case, which is dictated by plain contractual text and is consistent with caselaw throughout the nation. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' decision is wholly consistent with this Court's prior guidance, which noted that "courts have found incorporation of disputes clauses in the prime contract ... where there is a provision in the contract between the sub and the prime making the 'disputes' clause expressly applicable." Wash. State Major League Baseball, 176 Wn.2d at 526 (quotation marks and citation omitted). The decision in this case fits comfortably within decades of relatively stable doctrine throughout the nation.

Second, PowerCom's arguments demonstrate that any review at this time would be premature. PowerCom's Little Miller Act claim has been stayed—not dismissed. And neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals has ruled on PowerCom's argument, which it repeatedly raises in the petition, that

PowerCom will not be bound by the result of the dispute process. The Court of Appeals held only that the Sub-subcontract waives PowerCom's "right to sue under the Little Miller Act *pending a*" final determination of Clark's pass-through claims against the Port." PowerCom, 540 P.3d at 1186 (emphasis added). The court did not rule on what remedies PowerCom may have following the completion of that process. While Clark's position is that PowerCom will be bound by the result of the dispute process, PowerCom rejects that position, and neither of the courts below has ruled on the question. PowerCom's assertion that the Court of Appeals' reasoning "may" or "likely" will "result in PowerCom losing its ability to return to court," Pet. 1, 4 (emphasis added), only emphasizes the premature nature of this petition.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review.